2011

# Micah John Reller v. Karine Anesia Schlagel Toledo Reller v. Francis J. Argenziano : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(h) (2011).

## ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

**Issue 1.** Whether, after more than year had passed since an adjudication of parentage had been made in a divorce decree, the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to set aside that adjudication of parentage.

**Standard of Review:** Whether the lower court had subject matter jurisdiction to set aside its own previous judgment presents a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *Case v. Case*, 2004 UT App 423, ¶ 5, 103 P.3d 171; *Lilly v. Lilly*, 2011 UT App 53, 250 P.3d 994.

**Issue 2.** Whether the Divorce Decree was res judicata on the issue of parentage.

**Standard of Review:** Whether res judicata bars an action is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 6, ¶19, 44 P.3d 663 (citing *Macris & Assocs., Inc. v. Neways, Inc.*, 2000 UT 93, ¶ 17, 16 P.3d 1214).



**Issue 3.** Whether the parties to an adjudication of parentage that was made in their decree of divorce are estopped from raising the issue of parentage more than a year after the decree of divorce was entered.

**Standard of Review:** Estoppel is generally a mixed question of fact and law with differing degrees of deference given to the trial court, depending on several considerations. *See Dep't of Human Servs. ex rel. Parker v. Irizarry*, 945 P.2d 676, 678 (Utah 1997). However, where the estoppel arises as a matter of statute and the facts are undisputed, as here, the matter should be treated as one of statutory construction. "The interpretation of a statute is a question of law," which is reviewed for correctness. *General Constr. & Dev., Inc. v. Peterson Plumbing Supply*, 2011 UT 1, ¶5, 248 P.3d 972.

#### **PRESERVATION BELOW**

The first issue, subject matter jurisdiction, may be raised at any time, including, for the first time on appeal. *Baby E.Z. v. T.I.Z.*, 2011 UT 38, ¶31, 678 Utah Adv. Rep. 17. Issues numbered two and three (res judicata and statutory estoppel respectively) were brought to the Trial Court's attention at least twice. *See* Record on Appeal ("R.") 154-155; 157-168 and R. 321 - 324. The Trial Court ruled favorably on the first raising of res judicata and estoppel. R. 246. However, Appellant was not joined into this case until the very day of the deadline for filing

a notice of appeal and, accordingly, the Trial Court never had an opportunity to rule on the latter attempt to raise the issues. Because of the manner in which the Trial Court's various rulings were obtained (by surreptitious stipulations) and the timing of those rulings, the second and third issues are reviewable under the Exceptional Circumstances Doctrine, which addresses "rare procedural anomalies" (*State v. Munguia*, 2011 UT 5, ¶11, 253 P.3d 1082) and the Plain Error Doctrine, because the error regarding statutory estoppel should have been obvious. *Munguia* ¶12.

#### **DETERMINATIVE LAW**

**Determinative Law:** Utah Const. Art. VIII, §5

The district court shall have original jurisdiction in all matters except as limited by this constitution or by statute, and power to issue all extraordinary writs. The district court shall have appellate jurisdiction as provided by statute.

**Determinative Law:** Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-607 (2011)

See Addendum A.

**Determinative Law:** Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-623 (2011)

See Addendum A.

**Determinative Law:** Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c)

Setting aside default. -- For good cause shown the court may set aside an entry of default and, if a judgment by default has been entered, may likewise set it aside in accordance with Rule 60(b).

**Determinative Law:** Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)

See Addendum A.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. *Nature of the case.* This is an appeal from a stipulated order – a final judgment – that entered years after an earlier final divorce decree. The new stipulated order purported to resolve once again all “outstanding” issues in the parties’ divorce, determining that “there are no minor children born between the parties.” This was contrary to the final decree of divorce entered years earlier that had adjudicated Micah Reller as the father of a child that was born of the parties’ marriage (“the Child”). The stipulated order also contradicted the Trial Court’s earlier finding that the prior paternity determination in the decree of divorce was an actual adjudication of parentage under Utah’s Uniform Parentage Act.

b. *Course of the proceedings.* On August 30, 2006, Petitioner, Micah Reller, filed for divorce from Respondent, Karine Reller. Micah’s Verified Petition alleged among other things that there “has been 1 child/ren born of this

marriage” (“the Child”). Karine Reller waived answering and consented that judgment could enter consistent with Micah’s petition. Accordingly, on September 12, 2006, the Trial Court entered the Decree of Divorce and Judgment (the “Decree”), which reflected that one child was born of the marriage, to wit: the Child.

c. *Post decree proceedings.* On June 20, 2007, Micah Reller filed a Petition to Modify, seeking a change of custody based on Respondent Karine Reller’s conduct. As part of that dispute, on October 23, 2007, Karine Reller filed her own Petition to Modify, in which she sought to readjudicate parentage. There, for the first time, Karine asserted that Micah Reller was not the father, but rather that the father was Intervenor Frank Argenziano. Karine joined Argenziano as a party and Argenziano filed a motion to dismiss, which was heard by Commissioner Tack on March 13, 2008. On May 21, 2008, Commissioner Tack issued her recommended order, which was served on all parties. It was later entered by the Trial Court as an order as written. *Inter alia*, that order determined that Micah Reller had been adjudicated the Child’s father by the Decree on September 12, 2006, that Argenziano should be dismissed, and that Karine, who knew of the issue at the time of the divorce, should be estopped from challenging paternity.

Karine objected to that recommendation, but then on June 25, 2008, she withdrew her objection. The following day, June 26, 2008, almost two years post decree, Karine and Micah Reller executed their Stipulation to Set Aside Decree of Divorce, in which, unbeknownst to Argenziano, they stipulated to set aside the original Decree of Divorce (in its entirety) apparently so the Trial Court could later enter findings that Micah Reller was not the biological father of the Child.

The Rellers then surreptitiously filed their Stipulation to Set Aside Decree of Divorce on July 7, 2008.<sup>1</sup> On July 10, 2008, Judge Christiansen signed the Order Setting Aside Decree of Divorce. Neither the Order Setting Aside Decree of Divorce nor the stipulation on which it was based were ever served on Argenziano. The order dismissing Argenziano from the case was served by the Trial Court on Argenziano by mail on August 14, 2008.

On March 16, 2009, the Trial Court entered a stipulated partial Decree of Divorce, which divorced the Rellers again and now excluded Micah Reller as the Child's *biological* father. However, it reserved all other issues. The Rellers did not file a final order in this case until well after Argenziano sought to Intervene anew. Argenziano's Application and Motion to Intervene was filed on February

---

<sup>1</sup>"Surreptitious" because the Rellers did not include Argenziano as a party to that stipulation and did not serve him with a copy of it when they filed it.

22, 2011. There Argenziano sought intervention to set aside the previous order setting aside the original decree of divorce - at least to the extent that order purported to set aside the Decree's adjudication of parentage. To accommodate counsel for Micah and Karine, Argenziano agreed to extensions of the hearing date on the intervention motion, during which the Rellers filed their Stipulated Order Resolving All Outstanding Issues in the Parties' Divorce - again without notice to Argenziano. That stipulated order was signed by Judge Terry Christiansen on April 11, 2011, and was a final judgment. Intervention was granted on May 12, 2011, which was the deadline for a notice of appeal. Consequently Argenziano filed his Notice of Appeal that same day.

Also of note, but not apparent from the record in this case, Appellee Karine Reller had initiated a separate administrative action, which was dismissed. She then initiated an independent action in the District Court to have Argenziano adjudicated the parent of A.E.R. The temporary orders in that action have required Appellant Argenziano to submit to genetic testing.

### **RELEVANT FACTS**

1. Petitioner Micah Reller and Respondent Karine Reller were married in August 2, 2002, and a Decree of Divorce and Judgment dissolving the marriage was entered September 12, 2006 (the "Decree"). R. 1-19.

2. On April 12, 2005, during the marriage, a child (the “Child”) was born. R. 3.

3. The uncontested Verified Petition alleged, and the subsequent Decree and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law found, that there was “one child born of this marriage,” which was the Child. R. 3, 62 and 79.

4. On or about June 20, 2007, Micah filed a Petition to Modify the Decree, alleging that a substantial and material change of circumstances had occurred; Micah sought an award of sole custody and to restrict Karine to supervised parent time. R. 94 - 124.

5. Karine moved to dismiss Micah’s Petition to Modify ( R. 130-131); Later, however, Karine brought her own petition to modify the decree of divorce, which she filed on October 23, 2007; There she alleged for the first time that Micah was not the parent of the Child. R. 139-141.

6. Karine’s petition to modify the decree of divorce, alleged *inter alia* that Intervenor Agenziano was actually the father of the child. R. 140.

7. Karine then had Argenziano joined as a party, amended her petition to modify seeking to have the court change the adjudication of parentage and make Argenziano pay child support. R. 143 - 146.

8. On December 4, 2007, Argenziano was served with a Summons, the

court's "Order of Joinder" and an Amended Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce. R. 151-153.

9. On January 3, 2008, Argenziano moved to vacate his joinder and dismiss the petition to modify as it related to him, asserting the Child already had an adjudicated father. R. 154 - 237.

10. A hearing was held before the Honorable Michelle Tack, District Court Commissioner on March 13, 2008 ( R. 242), following which the Commissioner recommended, on May 23, 2008, as follows:

"2. [Micah Reller] was adjudicated as the child's father at the entry of the parties' decree of Divorce on or about September 12, 2006, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-45g-623(3) of the Utah Code." R. 266-267, ¶ 2.<sup>2</sup>

\* \* \*

"6. Based upon the adjudication of paternity within the parties' Decree of Divorce, the issue of paternity is not properly before this court and therefore this court currently lacks jurisdiction over the Third Party

---

<sup>2</sup>Chapter 45g, Utah's Uniform Parentage Act (the "UPA"), was enacted in 2005. As part of a 2008 recodification of the Judicial Code, it was renumbered to Chapter 15 of Title 78B, with section numbers remaining unchanged. (*See* L. Utah 2008, ch. 3, § 1368.) Thus, §78-45g-623(3) has been renumbered and is now located at Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-623(3) (2011). Because there are no significant changes, citations to the UPA are to the current 2011 version.



Respondent, Francis Joseph Argenziano.” R. 267, ¶ 6.

11. After that recommendation, but before its entry as an order signed by the judge, and without notice to Argenziano, Micah and Karine entered into a stipulation to set aside the decree of divorce, which they filed with the Trial Court, along with an order setting aside the Decree. R. 260 - 265.

12. On July 10, 2008, based on the Rellers’ stipulation, Judge Christiansen signed the Order Setting Aside Decree of Divorce. R. 264 - 265.

13. On March 17, 2009, the Trial Court entered new Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce, which divorced the Rellers (again) and now excluded Micah Reller as the biological father of the Child, based on a genetic testing report dated August 22, 2007; All other issues were reserved. R. 304 - 310.<sup>3</sup>

14. On February 22, 2011, Argenziano filed his Application and Motion for Intervention, seeking intervention on the issue of whether the Trial Court had jurisdiction to readjudicate its September 12, 2006 Adjudication of Micah Reller as the Child’s father. R. 313 - 332.

---

<sup>3</sup>No formal stipulation, notice to submit or other pleading in the Record appears to support this decree. It does appear, however, that the Trial Court took Petitioner’s affidavit of jurisdiction and grounds orally on the record on December 4, 2008. R. 298. Additionally, the Findings of Fact and Decree of Divorce were approved as to form by Karine. R. 306, 309.

15. On April 12, 2011 a “Stipulated Order Resolving All Outstanding Issues in the Parties Divorce” was entered, which among other things, adjudicated “there are no minor children born between the parties...” R. 365 - 368.

16. On May 12, 2011 Argenziano’s motion to intervene was granted and he filed a notice of appeal from the April 12, 2011 order. R 420 - 423.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The entry of the original Decree on September 12, 2006 between Micah and Karine awarded custody of the Child to Karine, ordered Micah to pay child support, and declared that the Child had been born as issue of their marriage. Therefore, that Decree adjudicated the Child’s parentage and it was a final and appealable order. As between Micah and Karine, the issue of parentage was *res judicata* and both Micah and Karine were estopped by statute from raising the issue of paternity again. Moreover, the District Court, once having made the adjudication of parentage, lost subject matter jurisdiction to revisit that adjudication and allowing revisitation of it violates public policy.

Under Utah’s Uniform Parentage Act (the “UPA”), if a married woman has a child during her marriage, “[her husband] is presumed to be the child’s father.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-204(1)(a) (2011). If those parties divorce, that presumption of paternity must be rebutted *before* a decree of divorce is entered.

Otherwise, if the issue of paternity is raised in the divorce pleadings “and the tribunal addresses the issue and enters an order, the parties are estopped from raising the issue again.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-607(1)(a) (2011). Moreover, “the order of the tribunal may not be challenged on the basis of material mistake of fact.” *Id.* The September 12, 2006 Decree of Divorce adjudicated Micah as the father, and both Micah and Karine were estopped from raising the issue further. In addition to this statutory estoppel, the Trial Court also found that Karine was specifically estopped from challenging that Adjudication because of her actions.

Even absent estoppel, the Trial Court did not have jurisdiction to entertain Micah and Karine’s belated challenge to its Adjudication, which was almost two years old when they stipulated to set aside the Decree. The UPA grants subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate parentage as a part of a divorce action. *See* Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-104(1) (2011). However, subject matter jurisdiction to set aside an existing adjudication of parentage once made, flows from entirely different sources of the law. Jurisdiction to establish parentage comes from section 104 of the UPA in conjunction with section 607 (with respect to married parents), whereas jurisdiction to set aside a parentage adjudication relies on Section 623, as well as the pertinent rules of civil and appellate procedure. Just as a court does not retain perpetual jurisdiction to set aside judgments under Utah R.

Civ. P. 60(b), a court does not retain perpetual jurisdiction to modify or entertain challenges to parentage adjudications.

Section 623 of the UPA provides that parentage adjudications are binding on the parties to the divorce. Once such an adjudication is made, the scope of permissible challenges is limited. “A party to an adjudication of paternity may challenge the adjudication only under law of this state relating to appeal, vacation of judgments, or other judicial review.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-623(6) (2011). Thus, once the Trial Court entered its Adjudication, its jurisdiction to review that adjudication was limited. It had no appellate jurisdiction, which is limited to this Court. Jurisdiction for “judicial review” did not lie because that relates to judicial review of administrative parentage adjudications by the Office of Recovery Services.

Therefore, the Trial Court’s jurisdiction was limited to the law relating to “vacation of judgments.” Because the Decree was based on default, the Rellers’ only avenue was to move to set aside the judgment under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). The time for that in this case extended for three months following entry of the Decree. After that, the Trial Court lost jurisdiction to consider a motion under Rule 60(b). Not only were the avenues to challenge paternity after entry of the Decree limited, they were not traveled.

Utah's public policy strongly favors the legitimacy of children born to married couples. When the court allows setting aside adjudications of parentage through the simple expedient of setting aside a decree of divorce, it sets a dangerous precedent. Once the court starts down that slippery slope where does it stop? Here it was two years. Can children of married couples be illegitimated four, six, twenty years later? On the parent's death bed forty years later?

### **ARGUMENT ON APPEAL**

#### **I. The Rellers Were Estopped From Challenging the Adjudication.**

In district courts, parentage adjudications may take place in divorce actions, as well as other contexts not germane here. *See* Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-610(1) (2011) (allowing parentage adjudications to be joined with divorces, as well as adoptions, terminations of parental rights, *etc.*). However, where children are born into a marriage, the UPA limits the time to raise parentage issues. And once parentage is adjudicated in a divorce, the plain language of the UPA limits the scope of subsequent challenges.

When a child is born into a marriage, the husband is the presumed father. Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-204(1)(a) (2011). In that case, paternity “may be raised by the presumed father or the mother at any time prior to filing an action for divorce or in the pleadings at the time of the divorce of the parents.” Utah Code

Ann. §78B-15-607(1). Thus, the outside time limit to raise paternity issues appears to be when the parents divorce. Irrespective of that limit though, if either party raises paternity in the divorce and the divorce court adjudicates paternity, the parties are almost completely foreclosed by the UPA from further challenging that adjudication:

If the question of paternity has been raised in the pleadings in a divorce and the tribunal addresses the issue and enters an order, the parties are estopped from raising the issue again, and the order of the tribunal may not be challenged on the basis of material mistake of fact.

Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-607(1)(a) (2011).

The divorce court is deemed to have adjudicated paternity if “the final order: (a) expressly identifies a child as a ‘child of the marriage,’ ‘issue of the marriage,’ or similar words indicating that the husband is the father of the child; or (b) provides for support . . . by the husband.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-623(3) (2011). In short, if the issue is raised and the divorce court adjudicates parentage, those parties are “estopped from raising the issue again.”

That is precisely what happened here. Micah raised the issue in his Verified Petition, alleging that the Child “was born of this marriage” (R. 3), and that he, Micah, should pay child support. R. 13; *see* Utah R. Civ. P. 54(c)(2) (“judgment by default shall not be different in kind from . . . that specifically prayed for in the

demand for judgment”). The Child was born during the marriage and so Micah was the presumed father. That presumption was not “rebutted in accordance with Section 78B-15-607.” Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-204(2) (2011); *see id.* §607(4) (no presumption to rebut once adjudication is made). On the basis of Micah’s Verified Petition, the Trial Court granted default and entered the Decree on September 12, 2006. The Decree adjudicated Micah as the Child’s father by finding the Child was born of the marriage and ordering that Micah pay child support. R. 62, 79; *see* Utah Code Ann. §78B-15-623(3) (2011).

Lest there be any doubt, on March 13, 2008, a year and a half after the Rellers’ Decree was final, the Trial Court revisited the issue in a hearing and later specifically ruled that Micah “was adjudicated as the [C]hild’s father on or about September 12, 2006.” R. 245 - 46, and 266-67. The Trial Court also ruled that, because of her conduct, Karine was specifically “estopped from challenging the adjudication of paternity.” R. 246, 267. As of September 12, 2006, both Micah and Karine were estopped from even raising the issue of parentage.

## **II. The Initial Divorce Decree’s Paternity Adjudication Became Res Judicata.**

“The principles of res judicata apply fully in the context of divorce proceedings.” *Krambule v. Krambule*, 1999 UT App 357, ¶13, 994 P.2d 210 *cert.*

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