2011

Micah John Reller v. Karine Anesia Scholagei Reller v. Francis J. Argenziano : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant lacks standing to bring this case in that there is no stated or argued legally protectable interest that the Appellant has in the outcome of the Divorce Case. Additionally, the Appellant is barred from bringing this case under the doctrine of Res Judicata since the exact same issue and argument were presented, argued and ruled upon in the paternity case.

The entry of the original Decree on September 12, 2006 was not an adjudication of paternity based on statute and corresponding case law. The issue of paternity was not

adjudicated until genetic testing results were admitted into evidence and the court made an evidence based finding that Appellee Micah was excluded as the father of the child. The original Decree was properly set aside and subsequently, the paternity of the child was then properly adjudicated.

If a true adjudication had occurred prior to, or with, the original decree being entered, the Appellant would be correct, however it did not. A clear reading of the entire statute upon which the Appellant relies in his adjudication argument shows that an adjudication of paternity does not occur when a default judgment in a divorce is entered by the Court.

Subject matter for the District Court to hear this matter exists and is incorrectly argued and applied by the Appellant.

The Appellant's attempt to unscrupulously run around the State of Utah's efforts to establish him as the legal father of a child to which he is unquestionably the biological father should not be allowed. Appellant is simply attempting to attack the correct adjudication of paternity in this divorce case to dispute his own paternity. The proper avenue for disputing his paternity is in the paternity case to which he is a party.

ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

I. APPELLANT LACKS STANDING TO BRING THIS APPEAL.

The appellant lacks standing in the present case; accordingly, the appeal should be dismissed. Standing is a threshold issue the Court must address prior to looking at any of

the substantive issues on appeal. “Utah law required that the parties to a lawsuit have a sufficient interest in the subject matter of the dispute in order to confer standing upon them” Terracor v. Utah Bd. Of State Lands & Forestry, 1986 Utah 761, ¶9, 716 P.2d 796. This issue may be raised for the first time upon appeal. Blodgett v. Zions First Nat’l Bank, 1988 Utah App. 61, ¶6, 752 P.2d 901. In the present case the Appellant does not have standing because his own actions preclude him having an interest in this case, and there is no statutory or common law legally protectable interest that Appellant has in Appellees’ divorce.

Wade v. Burke sets forth the three general standards under which standing can be awarded. “[1]The party must be able to show that he or she has suffered some distinct and palpable injury that gives him or her a personal stake in the outcome of the legal dispute. [2] If the party does not have standing under the first criterion, he or she may have standing if no one else has a greater interest in the outcome of the case and the issues are unlikely to be raised at all unless that particular party has standing to raise the issue. [3] Even though the party may not have standing under the first two criteria, he or she may, nevertheless, have standing if the issues are unique and of such great public importance that they ought to be decided in furtherance of the public interest. . . If the party does not qualify under any of these there tests, we will not render an advisory opinion but will dismiss the action.” Wade v. Burke, 1991 Utah App. 60, ¶9, 800 P.2d 1106.

The Supreme Court has given additional clarification on the issue of standing. In *Jones v. Barlow*, the Court held that “[under] the traditional test for standing, ‘the

interests of the parties must be adverse' and 'the parties must have a legally protectable interest in the controversy'." And that the interest must be "legally protectable under either a statute or the common law." Jones v. Barlow, 2007 Utah 26, 154 P. 3d 808.

The parties attempted to join Appellant in this divorce case, and he objected and asserted that he did not have an interest in the present matter and subsequently as a result of his objection; the order joining him was vacated. (R. at 154-237, 266-270) Commissioner Tack entered a minute entry order vacating his joinder on May 21, 2008. (R. at 268) From that point on, he was not a party and did not seek an interest in this case until nearly two years later when he filed a Motion to Intervene. (R. at 313-315) In fact, a timely objection to the Commissioner's recommendation allowing his recent intervention has been filed, but as a result of this appeal the District Court has declined to hear said objection. (R. at 432)

In the present case, the appellant does not claim a statutory or common law protectable interest. Even if he did state an interest, it is not a protectable one. No statute confers a right to a third party to seek a re-adjudication of paternity to an outsider or that an outsider may set aside a Decree of Divorce. Additionally, Appellant does not claim, nor is there, a legally protectable interest under common law. While Appellant Argenziano does not have standing here, he does have clear standing in the ongoing paternity action, and that is the case in which his rights and responsibilities regarding the minor child should be decided.

In this case the appellant claims no interest in the marital assets, or obligations or custody or visitation of the child, which are the interests addressed by the divorce. The

child is not a subject of the divorce orders and the Appellant did not, and will not, lose any legally protectable interest as a result of the divorce action being finalized. Thus, he does not have a personal stake in the outcome of the divorce under the first prong. Second, he does not have a greater interest in the outcome of the divorce proceeding than the parties. He has no interest in whether or not the parties are divorced or what the terms of the divorce are. Third, similar to the *Wade v. Burke* case where the Court held that “this case is a private dispute without sufficient public importance to confer standing” and without uniqueness or public importance enough that standing ought to be conferred, this case also does not have uniqueness or importance enough to confer standing on the Appellant. Wade at ¶12.

The Utah Supreme Court has indicated that “[t]he purpose of divorce is to end marriage and allow the parties to make as much of a clean break from each other as is reasonably possible.” Gardner v. Gardner, 1988 Utah 15, 748 P.2d 1076. The divorce action is to establish the rights and responsibilities of the Appellees in respect to the dissolution of their marriage. No rights or responsibilities of the Appellant are addressed or established. He is not even referred to in any of the orders that are the subject of the appeal. In fact, in the paternity case, Appellant has been awarded not only visitation rights to the minor child but also joint legal custody of the minor child and is allowed to be actively involved in his 6 year old daughter’s life. His failures to assert or exercise his rights are of his own accord and his rights have not been negatively impacted by the paternity adjudication that occurred in this Divorce. The Court in the present case did not

order or address the issue of support of the child or any other issue regarding the Appellant and thus, Appellant's standing should be denied.

II. THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO SET ASIDE THE DECREE OF DIVORCE AND TO SUBSEQUENTLY ADJUDICATE APPELLEE MICAH RELLER TO NOT BE THE FATHER OF THE MINOR CHILD.

A. A Stipulated Default Decree of Divorce Does Not Constitute an Adjudication.

An adjudication by a Court requires more than a mere adoption of a stipulation, it requires the receipt of evidence and fact finding by the Court. Phillips ex rel. Utah State Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Jackson, 1980 Utah 1001, ¶18, 615 P.2d 1228. The parties in this matter stipulated to an entry of a Decree of Divorce, by Respondent's signing of an acceptance of service, appearance, consent and waiver. (R. at 35-37) By consenting to entry of her default, the tribunal or Court, never addressed the issue of paternity of the minor child.

Our Supreme Court has ruled on the issue, and found that stipulated Decrees of Divorce and Decrees of Divorce entered pursuant to a default judgment of one of the parties pursuant to Rule 55 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, are not to be considered adjudicated for a myriad of reasons. See, Elmer v. Elmer, 1989 Utah 33, ¶12, 776 P.2d 599.

In *Elmer*, the Court addressed the issue of child custody, and indicated that the best interests of the minor child were never visited by the Court as it took no evidence, but merely adopted the agreement reached by the parties. Id. In the present case, the same principal holds true, as the Court never addressed or took evidence as pertaining to the issue of a determination of paternity. The Court merely applied the marital presumption of paternity set forth in UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-15-201, adopted the agreement of the parties and signed the Decree of Divorce without the Court adjudicating said issue.

B. The Appellees Were Not Estopped From Raising the Issue of Parentage under the Utah Parentage Act.

The parties were not estopped from raising the issue of parentage. If the issue of parentage has been raised in divorce pleadings and the tribunal has addressed the issue and entered an order, the parties are estopped from raising the issue again and the order of the tribunal may not be challenged on the basis of material mistake of fact. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-15-607(1)(a). However, in this case the matter had not been adjudicated by the tribunal and the issue was not challenged on the basis of material mistake of fact.

In a proceeding to dissolve marriage, the tribunal is considered to have made an adjudication of parentage if the question of parentage is raised and the tribunal adjudicates according to Part 6, “Adjudication of Parentage”, of the Utah Parentage Act and the final order either expressly identifies a child as a child of the marriage or provides support. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-15-623(3). Part 6 of the Utah Parentage Act consists of Utah Code sections 78B-15-601 through 78B-15-623, and more specifically Utah Code

sections 78B-15-617 through 78B-15-621, which are titled “Adjudication of Parentage.” To adjudicate the paternity of a child, a presumed or declared father may be disproved only by admissible results of genetic testing excluding that man as the father or identifying another man as the father. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-15-617(1). Additionally, the Utah Uniform Parentage Act sets the standard of proof to establish paternity as by “clear and convincing evidence,” inferring that fact finding is necessary to constitute an adjudication. See, UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-15-112.

At the time the original Decree was set aside, there had been no evidence of genetic testing presented to the court proving or disproving Appellee Micah Reller as father. Appellant argues that the original stipulated Decree was adjudicated, and in setting out the applicable law, truncates the statute, leaving out crucial language thereby, misstating the law: “The divorce court is deemed to have adjudicated paternity if “the final order: (a) expressly identifies a child as a ‘child of the marriage...; or (b) provides for support by the husband.” (Br. for Appellant at 15) Appellant inadvertently or intentionally leaves out the statutory language that also requires the tribunal adjudicate according to Part 6 of the Act. A complete reading of the statute, as set out above, reveals that the issue of parentage had not, in fact, been adjudicated in the original Decree as Appellant argues. In fact, after the original Decree was set aside, the Court then received evidence in the form of genetic testing results excluding Appellee Micah Reller as father. (R. at 298) Only then was the issue of parentage adjudicated according to the statute.

Furthermore, Appellant’s argument is misguided in that Appellees did not have to challenge paternity based on mistake of fact. Instead, the original stipulated Decree was

properly set aside, and the issue of paternity was raised by the parties' for the first time in accordance with the Utah Parentage Act.

C. The Trial Court Properly Set Aside the Original Decree of Divorce According to Relevant Case Law and the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Court had jurisdiction to order the relief requested in Appellees' Stipulation to Set Aside Decree of Divorce. Stipulation agreements pertaining to matters of divorce, custody, and property rights will usually be adopted unless the court determines that the agreement is unfair or unreasonable. Bryner v. Bryner, 2009 Utah App. 217, ¶2. Courts may, in the furtherance of justice, and by motion or on its own accord, relieve a party from a final judgment and order for a variety of reasons, including any reason justifying relief from the judgment or order and or fraud. See, UTAH R. CIV. P. 60(b)(6). Furthermore, there is no time limit on the court's ability to set aside a judgment under UTAH R. CIV. P. 60(b)(6). See Id.

In this case, the trial court, being fully advised and for good cause, entered the Order Setting Aside the Decree of Divorce on July 11, 2008. (R. at 264) In fact, in an earlier minute entry and order, the Commissioner indicated that the issue of paternity would be properly before the court in accordance with 78B-15-623(6), if the original Decree was set aside. (See R. 268 at ¶10) Based on that order of the Court, and considering a range of intimate facts surrounding Appellee's divorce, Appellees agreed it was in their interest, and the interest of the child, to set aside the default Decree. Some of those facts may have included that Appellee Karine was aware prior to her divorce from

Appellee Micah that he was not the father of the minor child and did not disclose that to the Court or to Appellee Micah. (R. at 139-142) In as much, Appellee Micah believed Appellee Karine's conduct to constitute a fraud upon him and the Court. Accordingly, Appellees realized there was a basis in law and fact, and entered into settlement negotiations, which resulted in the stipulation setting aside the original decree. Appellee Micah, wishing to properly adjudicate his paternity, he motioned the Court to admit genetic testing excluding him as the father of the minor child. (R. at 301-303)

Requests to set aside a judgment or decree pursuant to Rule 60(b) must be made within a reasonable time. See, Richens v. Delbert, Chipman, & Sons, 1991 Utah App. 124, 817 P. 2d 382. Appellee Micah first received the news that he may not be the father of the minor child in early November of 2007. (R. at 139-142) Appellee Karine attempted to join Appellant in this matter in late October 2007. (R. at 143-144) Appellant sought to vacate the order joining him as a party to this matter. (R. at 154-156, 157-237) Appellant prevailed on his motion to vacate the order joining him as a party at a hearing held on March 13, 2008. (R. at 245-248) Appellant was, on his own motion, excused from this case on May 21, 2008. (R. at 245-247) Subsequently, upon receipt of genetic testing result which by clear and convincing evidence excluded Appellee Micah as the biological father of the minor child, the parties sought entry of the Bifurcated Decree of Divorce as Appellees had remaining personal property and financial issues which were not yet resolved between them. The Bifurcated Decree of Divorce *inter alia*, disposed of the issue of paternity of the minor child and divorced the parties upon appropriate grounds

and within a reasonable time after Appellee Micah learned of the paternity issue. (R. at 308-310)

The fact that the original Decree was set aside, invalidates Appellant's argument that Appellees were estopped from raising the issue of paternity. Appellant provides a lengthy argument that the parties were estopped from "modifying" "challenging" or "collaterally attacking" paternity. (See Br. for Appellant at Sections I-III) None of these arguments are relevant if the court properly set aside the original Decree. Once the Decree was set aside, whether under the Utah Parentage Act, Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b), or relevant case law, the issue of paternity was properly before the court.

D. The Court Had Subject Matter Jurisdiction to Set Aside, and Then Properly Adjudicate Paternity.

Appellant bases his subject matter argument on the underlying argument that the trial court's order setting aside the original decree was in error. However, in *Johnson v. Johnson*, the Supreme Court rejected such a broad view of subject matter jurisdiction challenge and held that "[t]he concept of subject matter jurisdiction does not embrace all cases where the court's competence is at issue." Johnson v. Johnson, 2010 UT 28, ¶9, 234 P.3d 1100.

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